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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
This Settlement Agreement (this “Settlement” or “Agreement”) is made by and between
Debra Wolf and Natty Medrano (each a “Plaintiff,” and collectively “Plaintiffs”) and The
Permanente Medical Group, Inc. (“TPMG”). Plaintiffs and TPMG collectively are referred to in
this Agreement as the “Parties” and each a “Party.”
I.

DEFINITIONS
In addition to other terms defined in this Agreement, the terms below have the following
meaning in this Agreement:
A.

“Action” means the civil action titled “Debra Wolf, individually and on behalf of
all other similarly situated individuals, Plaintiff v. The Permanente Medical
Group, Inc., a California corporation, Defendant” (the “Action”), designated as
Case No. 3:17-cv-05345-VC, currently pending in the United States District Court
for the Northern District of California (the “Court”).

B.

“TSR” means a Teleservice Representative whom TPMG has employed on an
hourly basis in California at one or more of its call centers located in Sacramento,
San Jose or Vallejo. TSRs sometimes are also known as “Telephone Service
Representatives.” All references in the complaint in the Action to “Telephone
Service Representatives” were meant to refer to TSRs.

C.

“CAFA Notice” means a notice of proposed settlement pursuant to the Class
Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1715, substantially in the
form evidenced by Exhibit D to this Agreement.

D.

“Class” means all current and former hourly TSRs who work or have worked for
TPMG at any time from September 14, 2013, through the date on which the Court
grants preliminary approval of the Settlement (the “Class Period”). The Class
does not include any individuals who already have resolved the claims asserted in
the Action, whether by release or adjudication, except to the extent that release or
adjudication does not extend to claims accruing after the effective date of that
release or adjudication. As of October 28, 2017, the Class has approximately
1,614 members.

E.

“Class Counsel” means Kevin J. Stoops, Jason J. Thompson and Charles R. Ash,
IV, of Sommers Schwartz, P.C., and Jahan C. Sagafi of Outten & Golden LLP.

F.

“Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment” means the amount awarded to Class
Counsel by the Court for their attorneys’ fees and expenses in connection with the
Action, including their pre-filing investigation, their commencement and
prosecution of the Action and all related litigation activities, this Settlement
(including documenting the Settlement, seeking court approval of the Settlement,
attending to administration of the Settlement, and obtaining dismissal of the
Action), and all post-Settlement compliance procedures.
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G.

“Class Member Notice” means the Notice of Proposed Settlement, Conditional
Certification of Settlement Class, Preliminary Approval of Settlement, and
Hearing Date for Final Court Approval evidenced by Exhibit A to this Agreement
and incorporated by reference into this Agreement.

H.

“Class Members” means all persons who are members of the Class.

I.

“Class Member Settlement Information Sheet” means the Class Member
Settlement Information Sheet evidenced by Exhibit B to this Agreement and
incorporated by reference into this Agreement.

J.

“Class Notice Packet” means the Class Member Notice, the Class Member
Settlement Information Sheet, and the form of Election Not to Participate in
Settlement (evidenced by Exhibit C to this Agreement and incorporated by
reference into this Agreement).

K.

“Class Representative Service Payments” means the payments made to the
Plaintiffs in their capacity as Class Representatives to compensate them for
initiating and pursuing the Action, undertaking the prosecution of the Action, and
granting the general release under the Settlement.

L.

“Effective Date” means the date by which all of the following have occurred:

M.

1.

The deadline for TPMG to void this Settlement pursuant to section III.F.6.
has passed and TPMG has not done so;

2.

the Court enters the Judgment; and

3.

the Judgment becomes Final, as defined below.

“Final” means the following date, as applicable:
1.

If no objection to the Settlement was raised before the Court, the date on
which the Court enters the Judgment.

2.

If an objection to the Settlement was raised before the Court, the last date
on which a notice of appeal from the Judgment may be timely filed, and
none is filed.

3.

If an objection to the Settlement was raised before the Court and if an
appeal from the Judgment is timely filed, the last of the following dates:
the last date by which a petition for a writ of certiorari to the U.S.
Supreme Court of a decision by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth
Circuit (the “Ninth Circuit”) affirming the Judgment or denying a petition
for review could be timely filed, or, if no notice of appeal to the Ninth
Circuit is timely filed, the last date by which a petition for a writ of
certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court of a decision by the District Court
may be timely filed, and none is filed;
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N.

“Final Approval Hearing” means the hearing to be conducted by the Court,
pursuant to Rule 23(e), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to determine whether to
approve finally and implement the terms of this Agreement.

O.

“Judgment” means the Order Granting Final Approval of Class Action Settlement
and Entering Final Judgment entered by the Court. With the motion for Final
Approval, the Parties will file or lodge a proposed Order Granting Final Approval
of Class Action Settlement and Entering Final Judgment in substantially the same
form evidenced by Exhibit G to this Agreement and incorporated by reference
into this Agreement.

P.

“LWDA Payment” means the payment to the California Labor and Workforce
Development Agency (“LWDA”) for its share of the settlement of Plaintiffs
claims for civil penalties under the California Labor Code Private Attorneys
General Act (“PAGA”), Cal. Lab. Code § 2698 et seq.

Q.

“Net Settlement Amount” means the amount from the Total Settlement Amount
that is available for distribution to Participating Class Members after deductions
for (a) the LWDA Payment; (b) the Class Representative Service Payments;
(c) the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment; and (d) the Settlement
Administrator’s fees and expenses. The parties will apply the formulas and terms
of this Agreement set forth below for allocating the portion of the Net Settlement
Amount that they designate for settlement payments to Participating Class
Members.

R.

“PAGA Notice” means a notice of proposed settlement pursuant to PAGA,
substantially in the form evidenced by Exhibit E to this Agreement.

S.

“Participating Class Member” means a Class Member who does not timely and
validly submit an Election Not to Participate in Settlement by following the
procedure set forth in this Agreement.

T.

“Preliminary Approval” means the Court’s preliminary approval of the Settlement
without material change, or with material changes to the Settlement to which the
Parties agree.

U.

“Preliminary Approval Order” means the order entered by the Court granting
preliminary approval of the Settlement. With the Motion for Preliminary
Approval, the Parties will file or lodge a proposed Preliminary Approval Order in
substantially the same form evidenced by Exhibit F to this Agreement and
incorporated by reference into this Agreement.

V.

“Settlement Administrator” means the administrator proposed by the Parties and
appointed by the Court to administer the Settlement.

W.

“Settlement Share” means the portion of the Net Settlement Amount allocable to
each Participating Class Member as provided by this Agreement.
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II.

X.

“Work Hours” is the number of hours recorded by the Class Member for TPMG
as an hourly TSR in the Sacramento, San Jose, or Vallejo, California call centers
during the Class Period. The amount of Work Hours will be based on TPMG’s
timekeeping records, and will include any adjustments based on TPMG’s shift
tolerance windows.

Y.

“TPMG’s Counsel” means Jeffrey D. Wohl and Caitlin M. Wang of Paul Hastings
LLP.

RECITALS
A.

On September 14, 2017, plaintiff Debra Wolf commenced a civil action against
TPMG entitled “Debra Wolf, individually and on behalf of all other similarly
situated individuals, Plaintiff v. The Permanente Medical Group, Inc., a
California corporation, Defendant,” U.S.D.C., N.D. Cal., No. 3:17-cv-05345-VC.
Plaintiff’s complaint asserts the following: (1) violations of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C.
§ 201 et seq., for failure to pay overtime wages; (2) violations of California Labor
Code sections 510, 1194, 1197, 1197.1 and 1198, and Industrial Welfare
Commission (“IWC”) Wage Order 4, for failure to pay overtime; (3) violations of
California Labor Code sections 221 and 223 for unlawful deductions;
(4) violations of California Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512 for failure to
provide meal breaks; (5) violations of California Labor Code section 226 for
failure to provide accurate wage statements; (6) violations of California Labor
Code section 1174 for failure to maintain accurate records of hours worked and
wages paid; (7) violation of California Business and Professions Code
section 17200, et seq.; and (8) violations of PAGA, Cal. Lab. Code § 2698 et seq.

B.

On September 29, 2017, Natty Medrano consented to join the action as an opt-in
plaintiff.

C.

On February 14, 2018, the Parties participated in a mediation presided over by
David A. Rotman. During the mediation, each side, represented by its respective
counsel, recognized the substantial risk of an adverse result in the Action and
agreed to settle the Action, and all other matters covered by this Agreement. Any
agreements, understandings, or representations between the Parties have now
been replaced and superseded by this Agreement.

D.

This Agreement represents a compromise and settlement of highly disputed
claims. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or will be construed as an
admission by TPMG that Plaintiffs’ claims in the Action have merit or that it has
any liability to Plaintiffs or the Class, or as an admission by Plaintiffs that
TPMG’s defenses in the Action have merit.

Based on these Recitals, the Parties agree as follows:
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III.

SETTLEMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS
A.

SEIU – United Healthcare Workers West Approval. The Settlement is
conditioned on the written consent by the SEIU – United Healthcare Workers
West (“SEIU-UHW”) to the Settlement. If SEIU-UHW fails to grant such written
consent within fourteen (14) days after this Agreement is signed by the parties
(the “Consent Period”), TPMG will have the right to rescind the Settlement and
the Settlement and all actions taken in its furtherance will be null and void.
TPMG must exercise this right within fourteen (14) days after expiration of the
Consent Period.

B.

Total Settlement Amount. Subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, including but not limited to section III.F.6, the total amount that
TPMG will pay under the Settlement (the “Total Settlement Amount”) is
$2,950,000. The Total Settlement Amount is all-inclusive of all payments
contemplated under the Settlement, and will cover: (a) all settlement shares to all
Participating Class Members; (b) the LWDA Payment; (c) the Class
Representative Service Payments; (d) the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses
Payment; and (e) the Settlement Administrator’s fees and expenses. Over and
above the Total Settlement Amount, TPMG does not assume responsibility for
any other fees or expenses incurred by Plaintiffs, Plaintiffs’ counsel, Class
Counsel, or any third party incurred in implementing the terms and conditions of
this Agreement and securing the Judgment pursuant to the Agreement.

C.

Distribution to Participating Class Members. Subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, the Settlement Administrator will allocate
settlement shares from the Net Settlement Amount to Participating Class
Members as follows:
1.
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To Participating Class Members. All Class Members other than those
who timely and properly elect not to participate in the Settlement by
submitting an Election Not to Participate in Settlement will be
Participating Class Members and bound by the Settlement, including its
release of claims, and entitled to receive Settlement Shares. Each
Participating Class Member’s Settlement Share shall be calculated as
follows:
a.

The Settlement Administrator will take the number of Work Hours
recorded by the Participating Class Member.

b.

For every day on which the Participating Class Member worked at
least eight (8) hours, the Settlement Administrator will increase the
Participating Class Member’s Work Hours by a quarter (0.25)
hour.

c.

The Settlement Administrator then will adjust the Participating
Class Member’s Work Hours (up or down) by a factor that is equal
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to the ratio of the Participating Class Member’s most recent hourly
base rate of pay as a TSR during the Class Period (including
applicable shift differential) (“hourly base rate of pay”) compared
to the average most recent hourly base rate of pay of all
Participating Class Members during the Class Period.

2.
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d.

The Settlement Administrator then will divide the Participating
Class Member’s Work Hours (adjusted as above where applicable)
by the total Work Hours for all Participating Class Members (also
adjusted as above where applicable).

e.

The ratio yielded by the division done in section III.C.1.d. above
will be multiplied by the Net Settlement Amount to yield the
Participating Class Member’s Settlement Share.

f.

Effect of Non-Participating Class Members. Class Members
who timely and properly submit an Election Not to Participate in
Settlement will not participate in or be bound by the Settlement;
will not receive a Settlement Share; and will not be included with
those other Participating Class Members counted for purposes of
the calculation of Settlement Shares, but they will retain their right,
if any, to pursue an individual claim against TPMG that would
have been released under the Settlement had they been
Participating Class Members. The Settlement Share that otherwise
would have been payable to such Class Member will be retained in
the Settlement Amount for distribution to all other Participating
Class Members.

Tax Treatment.
a.

Thirty-three percent (33%) of each Settlement Share (the “Wage
Portion”) is intended to settle each Participating Class Member’s
claims for unpaid wages. Accordingly, the Wage Portion will be
reduced by applicable payroll tax withholding and deductions, and
the Settlement Administrator will issue the appropriate W-2 Forms
with respect to the Wage Portion. TPMG is responsible for the
employer’s share of payroll tax withholding and deductions on the
Wage Portion and it will not come out of the Total Settlement
Amount.

b.

Sixty-seven percent (67%) of the Settlement Share (the “NonWage Portion”) is intended to settle each Participating Class
Member’s claims for all interest, penalties, and liquidated
damages. Accordingly, the Non-Wage Portion will not be reduced
by payroll tax withholding and deductions. Instead, the Settlement
Administrator will issue a Form 1099 where required with respect
to the Non-Wage Portion.
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D.

Payments to LWDA, Plaintiffs, Class Counsel, and Settlement
Administrator. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the
Settlement Administrator will make the following payments out of the Total
Settlement Amount as follows:
1.

To LWDA. The Parties will apply to the Court for an LWDA Payment
from the Total Settlement Amount of $37,500. This amount reflects value
negotiated between the parties, each of whom made an independent
assessment as to the likely outcome of Plaintiffs’ PAGA claim. If the
Court approves an LWDA Payment of less than $37,500, the remainder
will be retained in the Net Settlement Amount.

2.

To Plaintiffs: In addition to their Settlement Shares, Plaintiffs will apply
to the Court for a Class Representative Service Payment from the Total
Settlement Amount of not more than $7,500 for Debra Wolf, the named
plaintiff, and $2,500 for Natty Medrano, the opt-in plaintiff, in
consideration of their initiating and pursuing the Action and undertaking
the risk of prosecution of the Action. TPMG will not oppose a Class
Representative Service Payment of not more than $7,500 for Debra Wolf
and $2,500 for Natty Medrano. The Settlement Administrator will pay the
Class Representative Service Payments approved by the Court (but not
more than $7,500 for Debra Wolf and $2,500 for Natty Medrano) out of
the Total Settlement Amount.
If the Court approves a Class
Representative Service Payment of less than $7,500 for Debra Wolf and
$2,500 for Natty Medrano, the remainder for each Plaintiff will be
retained in the Net Settlement Amount. Tax deductions and withholdings
will not be taken from the Class Representative Service Payments, and
instead a Form 1099 will be issued to each Plaintiff with respect to this
payment. Plaintiffs will provide a completed Form W-9 to the Settlement
Administrator before the payment is made.

3.

To Class Counsel: Class Counsel will apply to the Court for a Class
Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment from the Total Settlement Amount of
not more than $777,500, representing not more than $737,500 for
attorneys’ fees (25% of the Total Settlement Amount of $2,950,000) and
not more than $40,000 for their actual documented litigation expenses. If
the Court approves a Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment of less
than the amount authorized to be sought under this Agreement, the
remainder will be retained in the Net Settlement Amount. The Settlement
Administrator will pay to Sommers Schwartz, P.C., the awarded Class
Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment, and Sommers Schwartz, P.C., will
be responsible for distribution to Outten & Golden LLP its share of the
awarded Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment. Sommers Schwartz,
P.C., will provide a completed Form W-9 to the Settlement Administrator
before the payment is made. The Settlement Administrator will issue to
Sommers Schwartz, P.C., a Form 1099 with respect to the awarded Class
Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment, and Sommers Schwartz, P.C., will
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be responsible for issuing a Form 1099 to Outten & Golden LLP with
respect to its share of the awarded Class Counsel Fees and Expenses
Payment.
4.

To the Settlement Administrator. The Settlement Administrator will
pay to itself out of the Total Settlement Amount its reasonable fees and
expenses in an amount not to exceed $35,000 and under the terms
approved by the Court and counsel for the Parties when it makes the Class
Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment to Class Counsel.

E.

Appointment of Settlement Administrator. Plaintiffs will ask the Court to
appoint a Settlement Administrator, mutually acceptable to the Parties, which, as
a condition of appointment, will agree to be bound by this Agreement with respect
to the performance of its duties and its compensation. The Settlement
Administrator’s duties will include preparing, printing, mailing, and (where
feasible) e-mailing the Class Notice Packet to the Class Members; conducting a
National Change of Address search and using Accurint or other reasonable and
cost-effective skip trace methods to locate any individual whose Class Notice
Packet was returned by the U.S. Postal Service as non-deliverable, and re-mailing
the Class Notice Packet to that individual’s new address; receiving Class Member
Elections Not to Participate in Settlement; providing the Parties with weekly
status reports about the delivery of Class Notice Packets and receipt of Class
Member Elections Not to Participate in Settlement; calculating all Settlement
Shares; issuing the checks to effectuate the payments due under the Settlement;
and otherwise administering the Settlement pursuant to this Agreement. The
Settlement Administrator will have the final authority to resolve all disputes
concerning the calculation of a Participating Class Member’s Settlement Share,
subject to the dollar limitations and methodology set forth in this Agreement. The
Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees and expenses, including the cost of
printing and mailing the Class Notice Packet, will be paid out of the Total
Settlement Amount as approved by the Court. In the event that the Settlement is
not finally approved, TPMG will pay the Settlement Administrator’s reasonable
fees and expenses incurred as of that time.

F.

Procedure for Approving Settlement.
1.

Motion for Preliminary Approval.
a.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

By March 29, 2018, the parties will jointly file a motion (the
“Motion for Preliminary Approval”) with the Court, noticed for
hearing on May 3, 2018, or the first date thereafter available for the
Court and the Parties, for an order granting Preliminary Approval
of the Settlement, conditionally certifying the Class, setting a date
for the Final Approval Hearing (for which the Parties will request
September 6, 2018), and approving the Class Member Notice, the
Class Member Settlement Information Sheet, and the form of
Election Not to Participate in Settlement. The parties will file or
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lodge with the Motion for Preliminary Approval an order granting
the motion in substantially the same form evidenced by Exhibit F
to this Agreement.

2.

b.

Pursuant to the PAGA, on the date the Parties file the Motion for
Preliminary Approval with the Court, TPMG will submit the
PAGA Notice enclosing this Agreement to the LWDA. The
Parties intend and believe that providing notice of this Settlement
to the LWDA pursuant to the procedures described in this section
complies with the requirements of PAGA, and will request the
Court to adjudicate the validity of the PAGA Notice in the Motion
for Final Approval of the Settlement and bar any claim to void or
avoid the Settlement under PAGA.

c.

Pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 (“CAFA”),
within ten (10) days after the Parties file the Motion for
Preliminary Approval, TPMG will mail the CAFA Notice to the
Attorney General of the United States and the appropriate state
official in each state in which a Class Member resides at the time
of notice. The Parties intend and believe that the CAFA Notice
pursuant to the procedures described in this section complies with
the requirements of CAFA; and will request the Court to adjudicate
the validity of the CAFA Notice in the motion for final approval of
the Settlement and bar any claim to void or avoid the Settlement
under CAFA.

d.

At the hearing on the Motion for Preliminary Approval, the Parties
will jointly appear and support the granting of preliminary
approval of the Settlement as provided by this Agreement.

e.

Should the Court decline to preliminarily approve all material
aspects of the Settlement, or require for preliminary approval
material changes to the Settlement to which the Parties do not
agree, the Settlement will be null and void and the Parties will
have no further obligations under it.

Notice to Class Members. After the Court enters its order granting
Preliminary Approval of the Settlement, all Class Members will be
provided with the Class Notice Packet, which will include the Class
Member Notice completed to reflect the order granting Preliminary
Approval of the Settlement, the Class Member Settlement Information
Sheet completed to show the Class Member’s information, and the form of
Election Not to Participate in Settlement, as follows:
a.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

Within fifteen (15) days after the Court enters its order granting
Preliminary Approval of the Settlement, TPMG will provide to the
Settlement Administrator an electronic database containing each
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Class Member’s name, employee identification number, last
known address, last known personal e-mail address, Social
Security number, dates of employment at TPMG as a TSR, and
Work Hours of every Class Member. TPMG will provide to Class
Counsel the name and address of every Class Member. If any of
the Class Members’ Data is unavailable to TPMG, TPMG will use
its best efforts to deduce or reconstruct the missing data prior to
when the data must be submitted to the Settlement Administrator.
The Settlement Administrator and Class Counsel will use the Class
Members’ Data to carry out the efforts described in section III.F.2,
and otherwise will keep the Class Members’ Data confidential
except to the extent the Settlement provides for disclosure, TPMG
consents in writing to disclosure, or the Court orders disclosure.
Class Counsel will not use the Class Members’ Data for the
purposes of soliciting new claims against TPMG.
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b.

Within fifteen (15) calendar days after receiving the Class
Members’ Data, the Settlement Administrator will mail the Class
Notice Packets to all identified Class Members, using the mailing
address information provided by TPMG, unless modified by any
updated address information that the Settlement Administrator
obtains in the course of administration of the Settlement. If
feasible, the Settlement Administrator also will e-mail the Class
Notice Packets to all identified Class Members, using their last
known personal e-mail address provided by TPMG, unless
modified by any updated personal e-mail address information that
the Settlement Administrator obtains in the course of
administration of the Settlement.

c.

If a Class Notice Packet is returned because of an incorrect
address, the Settlement Administrator will promptly, and not later
than five (5) calendar days from receipt of the returned packet,
search for a more current address for the Class Member using
Accurint or another other reasonable and cost-effective skip trace
method, and re-mail the Class Notice Packet to the Class Member.
The Settlement Administrator will use the Class Members’ Data
and otherwise work with TPMG and Plaintiffs to find a more
current address. The Settlement Administrator will be responsible
for taking reasonable steps, consistent with its agreed-upon job
parameters, court orders, and fee, to trace the mailing address of
any Class Member for whom a Class Notice Packet is returned by
the U.S. Postal Service as undeliverable. These reasonable steps
will include, at a minimum, the tracking of all undelivered mail;
performing address searches for all mail returned without a
forwarding address; and promptly re-mailing to persons for whom
new addresses are found. If the Class Notice Packet is re-mailed,
the Settlement Administrator will note for its own records and
10
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notify Class Counsel and TPMG’s Counsel of the date and address
of each such re-mailing as part of a weekly status report provided
to the Parties. Class Counsel and TPMG’s Counsel will be entitled
to receive from the Settlement Administrator any updated address
information about a Class Member as the Settlement Administrator
obtains such information.

3.

d.

Each week, the Settlement Administrator will provide to Class
Counsel and TPMG’s Counsel a report showing whether any Class
Notice Packets have been returned and re-mailed and the receipt of
any Election Not to Participate in Settlement. This report also will
include any updated address information for any Class Member.

e.

Not later than thirty-five (35) calendar days prior to the Final
Approval Hearing, the Settlement Administrator will provide the
Parties with a declaration of due diligence setting forth its
compliance with its obligations under this Agreement, which
Plaintiffs will file with the Court along with the Motion for Final
Approval. Prior to the Final Approval Hearing, the Settlement
Administrator will provide the Parties with a supplemented
declaration of due diligence if any material changes occur from the
date of the filing of its prior declaration, and Plaintiffs promptly
will file the supplemented declaration with the Court.

Objections to Settlement; Opt-outs from Settlement. Class Members
may submit objections to the Settlement or elect not to participate in the
Settlement pursuant to the following procedures:
a.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

Objections to Settlement. Class Members who wish to object to
any term of the Settlement must file with the Court not later than
forty-five (45) calendar days after the Settlement Administrator
mails the Class Notice Packet a written objection setting forth the
grounds for the objection. Class Members who wish to object to
the request for the Class Representative Service Payments or the
Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment must file with the
Court not later than twenty-one (21) calendar days before the Final
Approval Hearing a written objection setting forth the grounds for
the objection. The objection also must indicate whether the Class
Member intends to appear at the Final Approval Hearing; the
failure to so indicate will constitute a waiver of the right to appear
at the hearing. Class Members who do not file written objections
in the manner and by the deadlines specified above will be deemed
to have waived any objections and will be foreclosed from making
any objections (whether by appeal or otherwise) to the Settlement
or other related matters. Class Counsel and TPMG’s Counsel will
file their responses to any objection within seven (7) calendar days
before the Final Approval Hearing. An order changing the
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deadline or procedure for Class Members to file objections to the
Settlement will not constitute a material change.
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b.

Elections Not to Participate in Settlement. Class Members
requesting exclusion from the Class must mail to the Settlement
Administrator a signed Election Not to Participate in Settlement
postmarked no later than forty-five (45) calendar days after the
Settlement Administrator mails the Class Notice Packet. The
Election Not to Participate in Settlement must contain the name,
address, telephone number, last four digits of the Class Member’s
social security number, date, and signature of the Class Member to
be valid. If a question is raised about the authenticity of an
Election Not to Participate in Settlement, the Settlement
Administrator will have the right to require additional proof of the
Class Member’s identity. A Class Member who submits a timely
Election Not to Participate in Settlement will not be a Participating
Class Member and will not participate in or be bound by the
Settlement and the Judgment and will not receive a Settlement
Share, but will retain the right, if any, he or she may have to pursue
an individual claim against TPMG that otherwise would be barred
by the Settlement. A Class Member who does not complete and
mail a timely Election Not to Participate in Settlement in the
manner and by the deadline specified above automatically will be a
Participating Class Member and will be bound by all terms and
conditions of the Settlement, if the Settlement is approved by the
Court, and by the Judgment, regardless of whether he or she has
objected to the Settlement. An order changing the deadline or
procedure for Class Members to submit an Election Not to
Participate in Settlement will not constitute a material change of
this Agreement.

c.

Report. Not later than fourteen (14) days after the deadline for
submission of objections to the Settlement and Elections Not to
Participate in Settlement, the Settlement Administrator will
provide the Parties with (1) a complete and accurate list that
separately identifies all Participating Class Members and nonparticipating Class Members, the number of Work Hours and the
Settlement Share amount associated with each Participating Class
Member as calculated in section III.C.1. of this Agreement, and the
total amount of Work Hours for all Participating Class Members as
calculated in section III.C.1. of this Agreement; (2) copies of all
objections and Elections Not to Participate in Settlement received
by the Settlement Administrator; and (3) an indication of when
each objection and Election Not to Participate in Settlement was
received by the Settlement Administrator.
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4.

Resolution of Disputes. If a Class Member disputes the information
shown on his or her Class Member Settlement Information Sheet, the
Class Member must ask the Settlement Administrator to resolve the matter
by returning the sheet with the information that he or she contends is
incorrect and including with the sheet any documentation the Class
Member has to support his or her contention. In the event of such a
dispute, TPMG will have the right to review its payroll, timekeeping, and
personnel records to verify the correct information. Unless TPMG agrees
with the correction, TPMG will provide to Class Counsel and the
Settlement Administrator documentation supporting TPMG’s position that
the information shown in the Class Member Settlement Information Sheet
is correct. TPMG’s records will have a rebuttable presumption of
correctness. After consultation with Class Counsel, the Class Member,
and TPMG, the Settlement Administrator will make a determination of the
correct information, and that determination will be final, binding on the
Parties and the Class Member, and non-appealable.

5.

No Solicitation of Objection, Appeal, or Election Not to Participate in
Settlement. Neither the Parties nor their respective counsel will solicit or
otherwise encourage directly or indirectly any Class Member to object to
the Settlement, appeal from the Judgment, or submit an Election Not to
Participate in Settlement.

6.

Right of TPMG to Reject Settlement. If five percent (5%) or more of
Class Members, or a number of Class Members whose Settlement Shares
would represent five percent 5% or more of the Settlement Amount,
submit valid and timely Elections Not to Participate in Settlement, TPMG
will have the right, but not the obligation, to void the Settlement and the
Parties will have no further obligations under the Settlement, including
any obligation by TPMG to pay the Total Settlement Amount, or any
amounts that otherwise would have been owed under this Agreement,
except that TPMG will pay the Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees
and expenses incurred as of the date that TPMG exercises its right to void
the Settlement. TPMG must exercise this right within fourteen (14) days
after the Settlement Administrator notifies the Parties of the number of
valid and timely Elections Not to Participate in Settlement.

7.

Additional Briefing and Final Approval.
a.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

Not later than thirty-five (35) days before the Final Approval
Hearing, the Parties jointly will file with the Court a motion for
final approval of the Settlement, the LWDA Payment, and
payment of the Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees and
expenses (“Motion for Final Approval”). The parties will file or
lodge with the Motion for Final Approval the proposed Judgment
in substantially the same form evidenced by Exhibit G to this
Agreement.
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8.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

b.

Not later than thirty-five (35) days before the Final Approval
Hearing, Plaintiffs and Class Counsel will serve on TPMG and file
with the Court a motion for awards of the Class Representative
Service Payments and the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses
Payment pursuant to this Agreement.

c.

If any opposition to the Motion for Final Approval is filed, then
not later than fourteen (14) days before the Final Approval
Hearing, the Parties may file replies in support of the Motion for
Final Approval of the Settlement, the LWDA Payment, and
payment of the Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees and
expenses; and Plaintiffs and Class Counsel may file a reply in
support of their motion for the Class Representative Service
Payment and the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment.

d.

At the hearing on the Motion for Final Approval, the Parties will
jointly appear and support the granting of final approval of the
Settlement as provided by this Agreement.

e.

If the Court does not grant final approval of the Settlement or
grants final approval conditioned on any material change to the
Settlement to which the Parties do not agree, then either Party will
have the right to void the Settlement; if that occurs, the Parties will
have no further obligations under the Settlement, including any
obligation by TPMG to pay the Total Settlement Amount, except
that TPMG will pay the Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees
and expenses incurred as of the date that the Party exercises the
right to void the Settlement under this paragraph. However, an
award by the Court of a lesser amount than that sought by
Plaintiffs and Class Counsel for the Class Representative Service
Payments, or the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment, will
not constitute a material change to the Settlement within the
meaning of this paragraph.

f.

After entry of the Judgment, the Court will have continuing
jurisdiction over the Action and the Settlement solely for purposes
of (1) enforcing this Agreement, including enforcing TPMG’s
obligation to pay the Total Settlement Amount; (2) addressing
settlement administration matters; and (3) addressing such postjudgment matters as may be appropriate under court rules or
applicable law.

Waiver of Right to Appeal. Provided that the Judgment is consistent
with the material terms of this Agreement, Plaintiffs and Participating
Class Members and their counsel hereby waive any and all rights to appeal
from the Judgment, including all rights to any post-judgment proceeding
and appellate proceeding, such as a motion to vacate judgment, a motion
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for new trial, and any extraordinary writ, and the Judgment therefore will
become non-appealable at the time it is entered. This waiver of appeal
does not include any waiver of the right to oppose any appeal, appellate
proceedings or post-judgment proceedings. This waiver of appeal also
does not preclude Plaintiffs or Class Counsel from appealing from a
refusal by the Court to award the full Class Representative Service
Payments or the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payments sought by
them. If an appeal is taken from the Judgment, the time for consummating
the Settlement (including making payments under the Settlement) will be
suspended until such time as their appeal is finally resolved and the
Judgment becomes Final, as defined in this Agreement.
9.

Vacating, Reversal, or Material Modification of Judgment on Appeal
or Review. If, after a notice of appeal or a petition for certiorari or
review, or any other motion, petition, or application, the reviewing court
vacates, reverses, or modifies the Judgment such that there is a material
change to the Settlement, and that court’s decision is not completely
reversed and the Judgment is not fully affirmed on review by a higher
court, then either Plaintiffs or TPMG will have the right to void the
Settlement, which the Party must do by giving written notice to the other
Parties, the reviewing court, and the Court not later than fifteen (15)
calendar days after the reviewing court’s decision vacating, reversing, or
materially modifying the Judgment becomes Final. A vacation, reversal,
or modification of the Court’s award of the Class Representative Service
Payment or the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payments will not
constitute a vacating, reversal, or material modification of the Judgment
within the meaning of this paragraph.

10.

Timing of Settlement Payments. Within fourteen (14) calendar days
after the Settlement becomes Final, as defined in this Agreement, TPMG
will transfer to the Settlement Administrator the Total Settlement Amount
via wire transfer. Within seven (7) calendar days thereafter, the
Settlement Administrator will pay to Participating Class Members their
respective Settlement Shares; to the LWDA, the LWDA Payment; to
Plaintiffs, the Class Representative Service Payments; to Class Counsel,
the Class Counsel Fees and Expenses Payment; and to the Settlement
Administrator, its reasonable fees and expenses as approved by the Court.

11.

Uncashed Settlement Share Checks. A Participating Class Member
must cash his or her Settlement Share check within 180 calendar days after
the check is initially mailed to him or her. If a check is returned to the
Settlement Administrator, the Settlement Administrator will make all
reasonable efforts to re-mail it to the Participating Class Member at his or
her correct address. If any Participating Class Member’s check is not
cashed within 120 calendar days after its last mailing to the Participating
Class Member, the Settlement Administrator will send the Participating
Class Member a letter or postcard informing him or her that unless the

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6
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check is cashed in the next sixty (60) calendar days, it will expire and
become non-negotiable, and offer to replace the check if it was lost or
misplaced but not cashed. If a Participating Member fails to cash the
check for his or her Settlement Share within 180 calendar days after it is
last mailed to him or her, the proceeds represented by the check will be
paid over to the State of California Unclaimed Wages Fund. In such an
event, the Settlement Administrator will not issue a Form 1099 and/or
Form W-2 to the Participating Class Member, or will withdraw a Form
1099 and/or Form W-2 already issued to the Participating Class Member,
but the Participating Class Member nevertheless will remain bound by the
Settlement.
12.

G.

Final Accounting. In the Motion for Final Approval, the parties will ask
the Court to set a Final Accounting Hearing on or about 235 calendar days
after the Settlement becomes Final. At the Final Accounting Hearing, the
Settlement Administrator will account for payment of the Total Settlement
Amount by TPMG; payments of the Settlement Shares, the LWDA
Payment, the Class Representative Service Payments, the Class Counsel
Fees and Expenses Payment, and the Settlement Administrator payment.
The Parties will ask the Court to make the Final Accounting Hearing a
non-appearance hearing if the Court is satisfied with the Settlement
Administrator’s accounting and no Party requests to appear.

Release and Waiver of Claims.
1.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

Plaintiffs. In consideration of their awarded Class Representative Service
Payments, settlement shares, and the other terms and conditions of the
Settlement, as of the date the Settlement becomes Final, Plaintiffs release
any and all known and unknown claims against TPMG and its parents,
predecessors, successors, subsidiaries, affiliates, trustees, directors,
officers, fiduciaries employees, agents, attorneys, and other related
persons and entities, and any and all of their assigns (the “Released TPMG
Parties”), whether raised in the Action or not. Those claims include, but
are not necessarily limited to, claims that are based on the factual
allegations made in the Action or otherwise based on or related to the
allegations that, from September 14, 2013, through the date the Settlement
becomes Final, TPMG failed to pay overtime wages, failed to pay
minimum wages, made unlawful deductions, failed to provide lawful meal
periods, failed to maintain accurate records of hours worked and wages
paid; and failed to provide accurate wage statements. Such claims
include, but are not necessarily limited to, all claims for unpaid wages,
minimum wages, or overtime compensation under 29 U.S.C. section 201
et seq. of the FLSA; claims for overtime and double-time wages under
California Labor Code section 510; claims for minimum wages under
California Labor Code sections 1194, 1197, 1197.1, and 1198; claims for
waiting-time penalties under California Labor Code section 203; claims
for unlawful deductions under California Labor Code sections 221 and
16
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223; claims for meal-period premiums under California Labor Code
sections 226.7 and 512; claims for failure to provide accurate wage
statements claims under California Labor section 226; claims for failure to
maintain accurate records of hours worked and wages paid under
California Labor Code section 1174; claims of unfair competition under
California Business and Professions Code section 17200 et seq.; claims
under PAGA, California Labor Code section 2698 et seq.; any other
associated claims for statutory or civil penalties or liquidated damages,
whether recovery is founded on federal, state, or municipal law; claims
under the Agreement Between Kaiser Foundation Hospitals and The
Permanente Medical Group, Inc. and the Service Employees International
Union-United Healthcare Workers West; and any associated claim for
interest, attorneys’ fees, or costs (“Plaintiffs’ Released Claims”).
2.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

Participating Class Members. In consideration for his or her awarded
Settlement Share, as of the date the Settlement becomes Final, every Class
Member who does not complete and mail a valid and timely Election Not
to Participate in Settlement releases any and all known and unknown
claims against the Released TPMG Parties, whether raised in the Action or
not, that are based on the factual allegations made in the Action or
otherwise based on or related to the allegations that, from September 14,
2013, through the date the Settlement becomes Final, TPMG failed to pay
overtime wages, failed to pay minimum wages, made unlawful deductions,
failed to provide lawful meal periods, failed to provide accurate wage
statements, and failed to maintain accurate records of hours worked and
wages paid. Such claims include, but are not necessarily limited to, all
claims under 29 U.S.C. section 201 et seq. of the FLSA; all claims for
overtime and double-time wages under California Labor Code section
510; claims for minimum wages under California Labor Code sections
1194, 1197, 1197.1 and 1198; claims for waiting-time penalties under
California Labor Code section 203; claims for unlawful deductions under
California Labor Code sections 221 and 223; claims for meal-period
premiums under California Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512; claims for
failure to provide accurate wage statements claims under California Labor
section 226; claims for failure to maintain accurate records of hours
worked and wages paid under California Labor Code section 1174; claims
of unfair competition under California Business and Professions Code
section 17200 et seq.; claims under PAGA, Cal. Lab. Code § 2698 et seq.;
any other associated claims for statutory or civil penalties or liquidated
damages, whether recovery is founded on federal, state, or municipal law;
claims under the Agreement Between Kaiser Foundation Hospitals and
The Permanente Medical Group, Inc. and the Service Employees
International Union-United Healthcare Workers West; and any associated
claim for interest, attorneys’ fees, or costs (“Class Members’ Released
Claims”).
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3.

Class Counsel. In consideration of their awarded Class Counsel Fees and
Expenses Payment, Class Counsel and any counsel associated with
Participating Class Members hereby fully and finally release the Released
TPMG Parties of any and all claims to any attorneys’ fees and expenses in
connection with the Action other than what is provided by the Agreement
(the “Class Counsel’s Released Claims”).

4.

Waiver of Rights under California Civil Code Section 1542. Plaintiffs’
Released Claims and the Class Members’ Released Claims include all
such respective claims as described above, whether known or unknown by
the releasing party. Thus, even if a Plaintiff or a Class Member discovers
facts in addition to or different from those that they now know or believe
to be true with respect to their respective Plaintiffs’ Released Claims or
Class Members’ Released Claims, those claims will remain released and
forever barred. Therefore, with respect only to those respective released
claims, Plaintiffs and Participating Class Members expressly waive and
relinquish the provisions, rights and benefits of section 1542 of the
California Civil Code, which reads:
A general release does not extend to claims which the
creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her
favor at the time of executing the release, which if known
by him or her must have materially affected his or her
settlement with the debtor.

H.

No Effect on Other Benefits. The Settlement Shares will not result in any
additional benefit payments (such as 401(k) or bonus) beyond those provided by
this Agreement to Plaintiffs and Participating Class Members, and Plaintiffs and
Participating Class Members will be deemed to have waived all such claims,
whether known or unknown by them, as part of their release of claims under this
Agreement.

I.

Limitation on Public Statements about Settlement. Prior to filing of the
Motion for Preliminary Approval, Plaintiffs and their attorneys will not issue any
press or other media releases or have any communication with the press or media
or anyone other than family members, clients, Class Members, financial advisors,
retained experts, and vendors related to settlement administration, regarding the
Settlement. If, before the filing of the Motion for Preliminary Approval, Plaintiffs
or their attorneys disclose to any unauthorized party (a) that a settlement has been
reached or (b) any of the terms of the Settlement except as required by law or to
effect the Settlement, TPMG may rescind the Settlement, rendering it null and
void.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6
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J.

Miscellaneous Terms.
1.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

No Admission of Liability or Class Certification for Other Purposes.
a.

TPMG denies that it has engaged in any unlawful activity, has
failed to comply with the law in any respect, has any liability to
anyone under the claims asserted in the Action, or that but for the
Settlement a class should be certified in the Action. This
Agreement is entered into solely for the purpose of compromising
highly disputed claims. Nothing in this Agreement is intended or
will be construed as an admission of liability or wrongdoing by
TPMG, or an admission by Plaintiffs that any of her claims were
non-meritorious or any defense asserted by TPMG was
meritorious. This Settlement and the fact that Plaintiffs and TPMG
were willing to settle the Action will have no bearing on, and will
not be admissible in connection with, any litigation (other than
solely in connection with the Settlement).

b.

The Parties have agreed to certification of the Class for the sole
purpose of effectuating this Settlement. Should the Settlement be
voided pursuant to this Agreement, or not approved by the Court,
or should the Judgment not become Final, the certification of the
Class pursuant to this Agreement will be deemed null and void;
and the fact that the Parties agreed to certification of the Class will
have no bearing on, and will not be admissible in connection with,
the issue of whether a class should be certified in a non-settlement
context in the Action or any other action.

c.

Whether or not the Judgment becomes Final, nothing in the
Settlement, this Agreement, any document, statement, proceeding
or conduct related to the Settlement or the Agreement, or any
reports or accounting of those matters, will be (i) construed as,
offered or admitted in evidence as, received as, or deemed to be
evidence for any purpose adverse to TPMG or any other of the
Released TPMG Parties, including, but not limited to, evidence of
a presumption, concession, indication or admission by any of the
Released TPMG Parties of any liability, fault, wrongdoing,
omission, concession or damage; or (ii) disclosed, referred to or
offered in evidence against any of the Released TPMG Parties, in
any further proceeding in the Action, or any other civil, criminal or
administrative action or proceeding, except that any and all
provisions of this Agreement may be admitted in evidence and
otherwise used in any and all proceedings to enforce any or all
terms of this Agreement, or in defense of any claims released or
barred by this Agreement.
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2.

Integrated Agreement. After this Agreement is signed and delivered by
all Parties and their counsel, this Agreement and its exhibits will constitute
the entire agreement between the Parties relating to the Settlement, and it
will then be deemed that no oral representations, warranties, covenants, or
inducements have been made to any Party concerning this Agreement or
its exhibits other than the representations, warranties, covenants, and
inducements expressly stated in this Agreement and its exhibits.

3.

Attorney Authorization. Class Counsel and TPMG’s Counsel warrant
and represent that they are authorized by Plaintiffs and TPMG,
respectively, to take all appropriate action required or permitted to be
taken by such Parties pursuant to this Agreement to effectuate its terms,
and to execute any other documents required to effectuate the terms of this
Agreement. The Parties and their counsel will cooperate with each other
and use their best efforts to effect the implementation of the Settlement.
In the event the Parties are unable to reach agreement on the form or
content of any document needed to implement the Agreement, or on any
supplemental provisions that may become necessary to effectuate the
terms of this Agreement, the Parties will seek the assistance of the Court,
and in all cases all such documents, supplemental provisions and
assistance of the court will be consistent with this Agreement.

4.

Modification of Agreement. This Agreement, and any and all parts of it,
may be amended, modified, changed, or waived only by an express written
instrument signed by all Parties or their successors-in-interest.

5.

Agreement Binding on Successors. This Agreement will be binding
upon, and inure to the benefit of, the successors of each of the Parties.

6.

Applicable Law. All terms and conditions of this Agreement and its
exhibits will be governed by and interpreted according to the laws of the
State of California, without giving effect to any conflict of law principles
or choice of law principles.

7.

Cooperation in Drafting. The Parties have cooperated in the drafting and
preparation of this Agreement. This Agreement will not be construed
against any Party on the basis that the Party was the drafter or participated
in the drafting.

8.

Fair Settlement. The Parties and their respective counsel believe and
warrant that this Agreement reflects a fair, reasonable, and adequate
settlement of the Action and have arrived at this Agreement through armslength negotiations, taking into account all relevant factors, current and
potential.

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6
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9.

Headings. The descriptive heading of any section or paragraph of this
Agreement is inserted for convenience of reference only and does not
constitute a part of this Agreement.

10.

Notice. All notices, demands or other communications given under this
Agreement will be in writing and deemed to have been duly given as of
the third business day after mailing by United States mail, addressed as
follows:
To Plaintiffs and the Class:
Kevin J. Stoops
Jason J. Thompson
Charles R. Ash, IV
Sommers Schwartz, P.C.
One Towne Square, Suite 1700
Southfield, Michigan 48076
Telephone: (248) 355-0300
Facsimile: (248) 436-8453
kstoops@sommerspc.com
jthompson@sommerspc.com
cash@sommerspc.com
To TPMG:
Jeffrey D. Wohl
Caitlin M. Wang
Paul Hastings LLP
101 California Street, 48th Floor
San Francisco, California 94111
Telephone: (415) 856-7000
Facsimile: (415) 856-7100
jeffwohl@paulhastings.com
caitlinmarianwang@paulhastings.com

11.
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Execution in Counterpart. This Agreement may be executed in one or
more counterparts. All executed counterparts and each of them will be
deemed to be one and the same instrument provided that counsel for the
Parties will exchange between themselves original signed counterparts.
Facsimile or digital signatures will be accepted if the original signature is
provided within seven calendar days upon request. Any executed
counterpart will be admissible in evidence to prove the existence and
contents of this Agreement.
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IV.

EXECUTION BY PARTIES AND COUNSEL
The Parties and their counsel hereby execute this Agreement.
Dated: March ___, 2018.

DEBRA WOLF
____________________________________________

Dated: March ___, 2018.

NATTY MEDRANO
____________________________________________

Dated: March ___, 2018.

THE PERMANENTE MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
By: _________________________________________
Gary S. Dulberg
Assistant General Counsel

Dated: March ___, 2018.

KEVIN J. STOOPS
JASON J. THOMPSON
CHARLES R. ASH, IV
SOMMERS SCHWARTZ, P.C.
JAHAN C. SAGAFI
OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP
By: _________________________________________
Kevin J. Stoops
Attorneys for Debra Wolf and
Natty Medrano

Dated: March ___, 2018.

JEFFREY D. WOHL
CAITLIN M. WANG
PAUL HASTINGS LLP
By: _________________________________________
Jeffrey D. Wohl
Attorneys for Defendant TPMG

LEGAL_US_W # 93077323.6

22

Case 3:17-cv-05345-VC Document 36-1 Filed 03/29/18 Page 38 of 89

Case 3:17-cv-05345-VC Document 36-1 Filed 03/29/18 Page 39 of 89

IV.

EXECUTION BY PARTIES AND COUNSEL
The Parties and their counsel hereby execute this Agreement.
Dated: March ___, 2018.

DEBRA WOLF
____________________________________________

03/12/018

Dated: March ___, 2018.

NATTY MEDRANO
____________________________________________

Dated: March ___, 2018.

THE PERMANENTE MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
By: _________________________________________
Gary S. Dulberg
Assistant General Counsel

Dated: March ___, 2018.

KEVIN J. STOOPS
JASON J. THOMPSON
CHARLES R. ASH, IV
SOMMERS SCHWARTZ, P.C.
JAHAN C. SAGAFI
OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP
By: _________________________________________
Kevin J. Stoops
Attorneys for Debra Wolf and
Natty Medrano

Dated: March ___, 2018.

JEFFREY D. WOHL
CAITLIN M. WANG
PAUL HASTINGS LLP
By: _________________________________________
Jeffrey D. Wohl
Attorneys for Defendant TPMG
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IV.

EXECUTION BY PARTIES AND COUNSEL
The Parties and their counsel hereby execute this Agreement.
Dated: March ___, 2018.

DEBRA WOLF
____________________________________________

Dated: March ___, 2018.

NATTY MEDRANO
____________________________________________

Dated: March ___, 2018.

THE PERMANENTE MEDICAL GROUP, INC.
By: _________________________________________
Gary S. Dulberg
Assistant General Counsel

Dated: March ___, 2018.

KEVIN J. STOOPS
JASON J. THOMPSON
CHARLES R. ASH, IV
SOMMERS SCHWARTZ, P.C.
JAHAN C. SAGAFI
OUTTEN & GOLDEN LLP
By: _________________________________________
Kevin J. Stoops
Attorneys for Debra Wolf and
Natty Medrano

Dated: March ___, 2018.

JEFFREY D. WOHL
CAITLIN M. WANG
PAUL HASTINGS LLP
By: _________________________________________
Jeffrey D. Wohl
Attorneys for Defendant TPMG
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